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9
            Chapter 1

         

         Philip Cassidy was certain he wouldn’t be late but he knew it would be a near thing. He had agreed to meet Donald on his way to Gatwick and the diversion had taken him longer than expected. All he needed was the address in France for him to pick up the package, but Donald was reluctant to have any sort of conversation about that on the phone. It was now 7 am exactly, he had his instructions, and the APH coach was close to the South Terminal drop-off point. It didn’t take him long to reach the departure lounge and from that point on everything went smoothly. He felt relaxed, confident and looking forward to a few days away.

         The EasyJet flight was on time, the landing good and the passage through passport control went smoothly. Even the usual problems at the car hire desk were minimal by their standards and Philip was soon being shuttled to the area where he picked up the car and then on his way – heading for France.

         He turned sharp left at the first main crossroads and then filtered into the right-hand lane, moving smoothly ahead and taking the slip road to the right. He was soon on the approach to the A40 and making 10towards the tunnels just ahead. He began filtering through the Swiss border control point when he saw two young women obviously thumbing a lift as he was moving slowly through the crossover sections. He thought he recognised them from his flight, but wasn’t sure. “You going my way?” he called out across the passenger seat.

         “Depends where you’re going mate,” the blonde one called back.

         “Meribel,” he replied.

         “Yes, that’s great – we’re off to Annecy.”

         They were close by now and the blonde one had her hand on the passenger door handle. “Jump in quick then.” They settled in quickly and he pulled away to keep up with the slow-moving traffic.

         “Just arrived,” Philip said, turning his head just a little towards the blonde one in the front with him. “Yes – the early Manchester flight – it’s Tracy and Pippa by the way.”

         “Philip” he responded.

         There was small talk and then they all fell quiet for a while. Philip had glanced across at Tracy from time to time noticing the generous swell of her breasts and the high cut hemline of the shorts she was wearing. She had nice legs he thought and her knees kept moving apart in rhythm with the movement of the car. “Another time perhaps,” he thought to himself, he might have acted differently but now he was happy to keep his mind and his eyes mainly on the road ahead. He dropped them just past Annecy, by a campsite next 11to the lake and they thanked him profusely. The traffic was remarkably quiet for a change and very soon he had skirted the lake and was approaching Albertville. He reached the end of the dual carriageway just before the roundabout on the outskirts of the town and then took the second exit avoiding the town centre. The traffic began to build as he approached the western end of the town and most of the traffic was coming away from the centre and heading towards Moûtiers. Philip was heading in the opposite direction to the address he had been given, a route he had followed once before. He turned back towards the town centre and then first left up a steep slope, past a children’s playground and a few boarded-up shops. The area had the look and feel of decay, peeling paintwork, crumbling plaster and rubbish up and down the road. There were only a few people about, most of whom seemed to be wandering about aimlessly. It wasn’t long before Philip reached his destination. He parked outside one of the few shops that seemed to be open and made his way quickly inside. The man behind the counter looked at him suspiciously. “Do you have any old cassette tapes?” Philip asked in English, repeating the words Donald had instructed.

         “Probably got some out back,” came the reply.

         “I came in two months ago. Do you remember?”

         “Of course. And we were very pleased to do business.”

         “I’m just collecting this time. Everything has been arranged, I’m told.”12

         “Come through. We can talk out the back.”

         The man gestured to Philip to follow him behind the counter. A young man appeared from a side door and there was a brief exchange in French between them. Philip could speak a little French but he wasn’t able to understand what had been said. He assumed that the young man would be minding the shop for a while.

         “Just a collection then,” the man said as soon as they were in the back room and before Philip had adjusted his eyes to the gloomy interior of a small room.

         “Yes, been asked to pick up a package for a friend.”

         “That would be Mr Denman, wouldn’t it?”

         “Yes, Denman. Have you got a package for him?”

         The man did not reply at once but instead he turned and moved towards the back of the room and Philip began to follow.

         “No, no. You stay there,” the man said emphatically.

         Philip blinked a few times as the man disappeared into the gloom and out of the back door. Philip waited patiently and the darkness around him seemed to close in and made him shudder slightly, partly because it was cold but also because he was apprehensive. Time seemed to stand still and the oppressiveness of the room to grow in intensity with each passing second. He had agreed to collect and deliver packages from various addresses in this part of France partly because he passed this way from time to time when he went skiing but he was never happy about it. He was aware of the contents of the packages but had no idea what happened to them in France. 13

         His thoughts were interrupted by a cheery voice coming out of the gloom. “Good morning my English friend. And how are you today?”

         “I’m well enough,” Philip responded, not really wanting to prolong his stay.

         As the man approached Philip recognised him from his previous visit. He was short, more than a little overweight, and balding rapidly. His eyes were large and unblinking and were framed from above by the bushiest eyebrows Philip had ever seen.

         “Package for Mr Denman. And tell him always a pleasure to do business.”

         Philip reached out and took hold of the package.

         “And keep it safe. Don’t want it getting into the wrong hands do we?” the man said as he released his grip somewhat reluctantly.

         “Don’t worry – I know the drill.”

         “Ah – you English always using words that don’t seem to fit properly,” he said and the beginning of an unconvincing smile deepened the creases around his eyes just enough to be noticeable. But Philip wasn’t paying that much attention and didn’t notice. He was keen to leave as soon as possible and he shifted his weight from one foot to the other feeling nervous and swaying slightly in the process.

         “Perhaps we will see you again soon. Just tell Mr Denman to keep in touch.”

         Philip nodded in response “I’ll be on my way then – thanks,” he said as he walked back through the shop and out of the front door. He was pleased 14to feel the fresh cold air in his nostrils and his mood lifted. It wasn’t long before he had returned to his car, started the engine and was pulling away. He did a three-point turn in the road and made his way back towards the roundabout heading for Moûtiers.

         The traffic on the outskirts of Albertville was light for a change and after he made one more stop to pick up his skis from the local hire shop, he made good time on the dual carriageway up and through the valley. He saw the sign for Méribel for the first time as he approached Moûtiers and he took the slip road indicated and turned sharp right at the roundabout taking care to check for oncoming traffic from his left. After Moûtiers the climb began in earnest. He took a series of left and right turns smoothly just past the garage and supermarket to his right. Then he saw a black Audi approaching fast behind him and it soon swept past even though his own speed was more than reasonable – “Must be a local, someone who knows the road well,” he thought to himself without any resentment rising within him. Most of the climb was wooded each side of the road but occasionally, mainly to his left, the road seemed to fall away into the distance and a panoramic view opened up momentarily. Vivid shades of green rose haphazardly from the valleys below, rising gently and reaching out towards the snow-capped peaks in the near and far distance. “I keep forgetting how beautiful it is here,” he thought to himself as he approached the first of the hairpin bends which swung around crazily to 15his right. The next few hairpin bends were not so unexpected and soon he passed Les Allues on his right-hand side and proceeded up the mountain, sweeping first left and then right, changing down for each corner and accelerating smoothly away. He came to the tight right-hand bend he knew so well just before Méribel town. The lovely little church soon appeared on his right-hand side, but his glance was soon upwards to Mont-Sourire. He thought to himself that he would be on the slopes by early afternoon, and looked forward eagerly to the rush of cold wind through his hair and the sound of the crisp snow beneath his skis. He had already changed his watch to French time, and a quick glance showed him that he just had time to book into his hotel room and get changed.

         Philip greeted the hotel receptionist in English. He knew full well that French was hardly ever spoken in the ski resort and he thought with a wry smile on his face how upset the French population must be, but that didn’t worry him the slightest.

         “Your reservation is for Room 289 and everything is ready for you.” The receptionist was in her late twenties, about five foot six and with a very pleasant smile. She turned to take the key from the shelf behind her and he noticed how well she fitted her tight jeans and crisp white blouse. “Is there anything else we can help you with?” the receptionist said with a smile. Philip reassured her that he had everything he needed and he was soon walking with his usual 16confident strides across the reception area towards the lift which would take him up to the second floor. Philip used the key to open the door and was soon inside where he placed his small case on the bed. He took everything out, pushed hard in the corner of the base and watched as the opposite corner lifted a little. He was just able to insert a finger and lift the whole bottom section away revealing a space between the base supporting the wheels. He took the package he had collected in Albertville and put it carefully in the space next to a manilla envelope containing the excessively expensive false passport which he had placed there that morning. He had not used the passport before but he felt more comfortable knowing it was there for use in an emergency. Then he replaced the base section he had removed.

         He changed quickly into his salopettes and ski top. He chose the thin blue top he had bought recently in Fat Face. It was mid-March and the afternoon sun would keep temperatures high enough to go without any other garments, but he chose a dark red fleece which he tied around his waist just to be sure. Looking at his watch once more Philip could see that the time was heading towards 1.15 pm and he needed to move quickly. With a quick glance around the room to make sure he hadn’t forgotten anything he swung the door closed and he put the room key safely in the zip pocket of his salopettes. He left the hotel with a spring in his step and not a care in the world.17

         Philip took the chair lift to the top of Altiport for his first run just to get his ski legs going. Only a few people were waiting and he soon took his place beside a very pretty teenager as the chairlift swept them up and started the short journey to the top of the nursery slope. When they had settled, skis dangling loosely in front of them the girl turned her head towards him slightly but she didn’t say anything and Philip wasn’t in the mood then to make conversation.

         The afternoon went by in a flash. A mixture of fairly sedate skiing interspersed with delightful refreshment breaks – hot chocolate and fresh raspberry tarts proved the perfect choice on a warm and sunny afternoon. He didn’t see the girl from the ski lift again but he had kept an eye out for her, remembering that she wore a lovely combination of grey and pink which was quite distinctive. Philip looked at his watch and was surprised to see that it showed a few minutes before 4 pm. He knew from experience that he should soon make his way back. The snow was beginning to turn slushy and the crowds would soon make it difficult to negotiate some of the narrow stretches towards the lower part of the ski area. There was a short steep section just ahead and Philip took the turn and gathered speed.

         He plotted his route back to Rond Point in his head and started to move onto the stages that led him in that direction. From time to time he looked up into the clear blue sky – the depth of colour seemed unreal, almost merging into black and the brightness 18of the sun enhanced the whole effect. He decided to be lazy and took a taxi back to his hotel and as he sat watching the scenery slip by all he thought about was a pleasant evening ahead and how he could enjoy himself. Now the parcel had been collected and hidden safely he could relax and that’s what he intended to do over the next few days; relax and just think about himself.
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            Chapter 2

         

         Ingrid Peterson had just returned to Police Headquarters in Méribel when the first call came through from Mrs Dawson. “Keep me informed,” Ingrid said as the duty officer told her that Amanda Dawson had been reported missing by her mother. The time was 8 pm exactly.

         The second call came through at 8.30 pm just as Ingrid was leaving on one of her regular patrols. “I’m just going to the town centre anyway,” she called back. “Tell her I will meet her in the square by the steps to the lift pass office. I’ll only be five minutes or so.”

         It was just a short journey into town and Ingrid drove with her usual care and attention. She thought she had detected a hint of sarcasm from the duty officer as if to demonstrate that he felt it was probably a waste of time. ‘Probably is’ Ingrid thought but nonetheless she had nothing better to do and the parents were obviously worried.

         Mrs Dawson stood out a mile as Ingrid approached the town square. She was standing by the steps in front of the café looking all around her and moving her weight from one foot to the other as if she found 20it impossible to stand still. Her right hand clasped her forehead in a gesture of despair and she spun round looking directly at an unaccompanied young woman approaching but almost immediately exhaled sharply and dropped her chin towards her chest when she did not recognise her. Then she saw Ingrid and rushed over to her. Words were falling from her mouth in Ingrid’s direction but they made little sense.

         “Calm down, calm down,” Ingrid said and she put a hand on Mrs Dawson’s shoulder seeking to emphasise her words. “Just take a few deep breaths. I can’t help you like this.”

         Mrs Dawson took a deep breath as if it was her last and then bit the knuckle of her left hand so hard that her index finger soon began to turn white. But it did seem to calm her a little.

         “That’s better,” Ingrid said and she removed her hand from Mrs Dawson’s shoulder, but remained standing close to her. “When you are ready just answer my questions. We need to take one step at a time.”

         “I can’t get hold of him.”

         Ingrid wasn’t sure what she meant. “Get hold of who?”

         “My husband Frank. I’m all alone here, it just makes it worse. I’ve tried ringing his mobile but he switches it off when he’s driving. Oh, it’s all such a mess.”

         “It will be ok I’m sure. Where is he?”

         “He’s driving back to Calais. He left about six.”21

         “We can try him later, leave a message. He will probably pick it up when he stops for a break.”

         Mrs Dawson looked at Ingrid and nodded a few times. She was calmer now and Ingrid decided to press on. “When did you last see Amanda?”

         “Went skiing with her just after lunch, until about…” Mrs Dawson paused for a while looking into the distance but not focussing on anything in particular. “Until about 3-ish,” she said nodding to herself as if to confirm that she had remembered the time accurately. “Amanda met up with some friends and my husband and I went back to the Orion Hotel and then down the hill to Brides-les-Bains for an hour or so.”

         “And had you arranged to meet up with Amanda later?”

         “Yes, I said I would meet her in the Refuge for a pizza, just down the road there, at 7 pm. I’ve tried phoning her loads of times – always get straight through to an answerphone, that’s not like her.”

         “What about those friends of her. What have they told you?”

         “I haven’t been able to find them either. I don’t really know them. It was Amanda who saw them and told us they were friends of hers.”

         A small crowd had gathered round them and there was a bit of pushing and shoving. “Like to get you in handcuffs,” one young man called out in Ingrid’s direction.

         “You’d be too pissed to do anything about it,” one of his friends added as he pushed him in the 22back and the pair of them fell onto the pavement at Ingrid’s feet.

         “If you’re not careful you will be the ones to end up in handcuffs,” Ingrid said and she started to usher people away, but soon realised it was an impossible task. Alcohol and high spirits got in the way of sensible actions and the crowd around them grew larger and more vocal.

         “Get in the car,” Ingrid said and Mrs Dawson who was by now just as keen as Ingrid to move to a quieter area responded immediately. Both of them were soon sitting in the car and Ingrid pulled away from the kerb carefully and moved off down the hill. Ingrid paused at the junction ahead. She turned sharp left, almost turning back on herself, and then down the hill towards the swimming pool and ice rink where she found a parking spot. “Come on,” she called over her shoulder, “we can find a place to sit and talk quietly.”

         Mrs Dawson explained carefully all that she had done in her search for Amanda. She had not been very successful. She had established that Amanda had returned to the Orion Hotel, at least the receptionist had told her that she had seen her about 5.30 pm. But that was the only time that anyone had any recollection of seeing her. Ingrid made careful notes as Mrs Dawson explained everything. When she looked at her watch it told her that it was 9.10 pm and she knew that the Commander would not authorise a ‘missing person’ category at such an early 23stage. Ingrid offered to give Mrs Dawson a lift up to the Orion Hotel and she was surprised that she accepted, not just because it was only a ten-minute walk back into town but also because she expected that she would want to continue her own search.

         When they arrived Mrs Dawson said that she would go up to her room which had an adjoining door to Room 214, the room Amanda had occupied and have a good look around. This gave Ingrid the opportunity to talk with Chantelle Pemberton, the receptionist, and very soon Chantelle was chatting away and Ingrid was making a note as fast as she could. Chantelle was either a very observant person or a busy-body wanting to know everyone’s business. Or perhaps it was just that she got very bored when there wasn’t much to do. In any case she certainly knew about all the comings and goings. At long last Ingrid put down her notepad where she had recorded some very interesting details about Amanda and another guest, Philip Cassidy.

         At about the same time Mrs Dawson appeared as if from nowhere. “Didn’t find anything that might help,” she said as she approached. It was now 9.40 pm.

         About 15 minutes later Ingrid was back at Headquarters and in conference with Commander Patrick Bouchard, her boss. “Ok then,” he said, “tell me about this bloke, Philip Cassidy.”

         Ingrid paused for a moment seeking to decide exactly where to start. Chantelle had given her so much information, some of it more relevant than 24others, but all muddled up and somewhat confusing. In the end she decided to ignore Patrick’s specific request. She took a deep breath, tapped on the desk in front of her with the palm of her hand a few times as if to attract his attention and then began. “Amanda Dawson and Philip Cassidy were seen together at least a couple of times on Tuesday evening, the same day they arrived. Chantelle wasn’t sure whether they knew each other before arriving at the hotel but she thought not. They went swimming together in the hotel pool apparently. And then earlier today she saw them together just after breakfast. She said she spotted them having a quiet word together as if they were having some sort of secret conversation. She described this Philip Cassidy as a man with his tongue hanging out.”

         “Just keep it factual,” Patrick said pointing his pen towards Ingrid as if to emphasise his point.

         “OK, but it’s just what she said, and, you know it does help paint a picture. Anyway she told me lots of interesting stuff about today – facts that is,” Ingrid added with just a hint of sarcasm. “Right, I need to get this straight and in chronological order – it was a bit jumbled when Chantelle spoke to me.”

         “Yes – keep it simple. You know what I’m like. Start at the beginning and take me through it stage by stage.”

         “Ok then, simple it is. Mr and Mrs Dawson came back to the hotel briefly at about 3 pm and went out again soon after that. Chantelle said that she didn’t 25see Mr Dawson again but Mrs Dawson spoke to her later, made a point of it apparently.”

         “And what did she say?”

         “General chitchat but she also mentioned that Mr Dawson, Frank that is, had just left and was driving back to Calais that evening.”

         “What time was that?”

         “About 6.15 or just before.”

         “What about…” Patrick began as his mind began to run through options, “… what about if the daughter wants to go home for some reason and right now she is travelling back with her dad all safe and well.”

         “Unlikely I’d say – bit of a long shot. It’s not as if there was any sort of family argument or anything. Mum would know, I’m sure.”

         “Doesn’t take much – teenage girls and all that. Can be a bit unpredictable.”

         “I’m not convinced, doesn’t add up for me. But keep it on the list as an option if you like.”

         “What else did Chantelle have to say? Does any of that tie in at all timewise.”

         “Yes, it would fit I suppose. Chantelle says that Amanda came back late afternoon and went up to her room. She wasn’t sure if the Dawsons were back by then but she thought they probably were.”

         “And this guy Philip Cassidy. Did she see him as well?”

         “She wasn’t sure about him. She says she saw him earlier, about 4-ish – he went out for a walk apparently 26but she wasn’t sure when he came back. She was in and out, so wasn’t on the desk all the time.”

         “Didn’t miss much though!”

         “No, definitely a bit of a nosy parker – lucky for us!”

         “So let’s assume that they are all back in the hotel by… what 5.30 or just before,” Patrick paused again, eyes darting from side to side as if deep in thought. Ingrid could see the pulse in his temple ticking rhythmically. He took in a sniff of air and blew it out though his mouth as if exhaling smoke from a fine cigar. “And then by 6 pm three of them have vanished.”

         “That’s about it, but there’s more. The odd thing is there was an envelope left at reception with cash and a note. Cassidy checked out early, he wasn’t due to leave until the day after tomorrow – Friday. Bill paid in full and you know what, they checked his room and everything gone – all left neat and tidy.”

         “Right, that’s it – you’ve convinced me. Get the word out, all the piste bashers on the lookout. All patrols notified and you can have four to do the foot patrol – you choose them but make it quick. I’ll check out the Orion – report back in one hour – no later you understand.”

         “Wow, that’s what I call decision making.”

         “You know me, don’t let grass grow under my feet.”

         “We need to follow up on Philip Cassidy, find out more about him,” Ingrid said as she turned to go. She paused just before opening the door and looked back 27in Patrick’s direction. “Do you want me to do that, or will you?”

         Patrick thought for a while. He knew that Ingrid was on duty until the early hours of the morning and would have more time. “Could you?” he said. “I’ll be off duty before you.”

         “No problem.”

         Ingrid made her exit before Patrick could allocate any more tasks. She already had a copy of Philip Cassidy’s passport kindly provided by Chantelle plus his home address. She decided to do a quick email to the Broughton Police HQ straight away and very soon that task was completed. It was 10.21 pm French time on Wednesday 16 March when the email was despatched. 28

      

   


   
      
         
29
            Chapter 3

         

         Peter Lord was not in a good mood. He had slept badly and woke frequently throughout the night. He got up early and when he drew the curtains the dark clouds that greeted him were chasing across the sky and joining in clusters on the hill just a few hundred yards away adding to the gloom all around him. None of these things were the main cause of his mood, however, but they didn’t help in any way. He had quarrelled with his wife the night before about all the usual things, just about holding on to his temper, but this wasn’t the main reason for his mood either. It was a simple matter of the date. The day every year when it all came back to him, every last detail, every regret both personal and professional and he could never decide which of these two levels caused him the most pain. It wasn’t just on this day of the year, this usually cold, dark, gloomy day in mid-March, because the feelings of failure and regret never really left him completely. But this was the anniversary and that brought with it a special sort of pain rising from the pit of his stomach and chasing through him, leaving behind an emptiness which often stayed with him long after the day had passed. It was the 17 March 30and the name Philip Cassidy was never far away on this of all days. He decided to leave for work early and after taking just a few sips of the tea he had made for himself he called out goodbye to his wife Kim.

         “Have a nice day,” his wife had called back to him. “I will see you about six.” She didn’t expect him either to have a good day or be home by six but she said it anyway.

         Peter didn’t say anything in response but simply walked somewhat stiffly out of the house closing the door quietly behind him. It seemed almost like ending a chapter in his life, but he had that feeling on so many mornings that he was used to it by now. Peter Lord started his car and when the road was clear moved away, taking his place in the slow-moving line of traffic. It would take him about 40 minutes to reach the police station and he knew that, as usual, he would be irritable when he got there. The journey seemed to get more difficult every day. All he was really looking forward to now was retirement and it couldn’t come quickly enough. This thought lifted his mood just a little, but what he didn’t know was that this would be no ordinary day to be ticked off on route to his pension. Peter was an old-fashioned copper if there was such a thing these days and was proud of it but he was now just marking time. He had risen to the rank of sergeant and that was good enough for him right now and had in fact been good enough for the past 16 years.

         When he arrived at the police station the first thing he saw when he sat down at his desk was a 31card and gift box for one of his colleagues who was due to retire before him. Peter dealt with the card and gift box then pushed them to one side together with a huge sigh. That sigh was followed by another as he started the task of going through the emails he had received. Then there was silence, a long period of silence as the information he had just read hit the back of his brain and ricocheted in all directions within it, and he couldn’t help calling out “Eureka.”

         “What’s up?” one of his colleagues sitting nearby called out.

         “That name at last – Philip Cassidy – it’s been so long. I knew, I just knew it would turn up again one day.” He sat almost in a daze as the visions from the past jumped erratically across his mind. Some were clearer than others, some were real and some imagined and it was often the ones his own mind created that were the ones he feared the most. He shook his head from side to side trying to erase the images and he was partly successful. He wanted to concentrate, to be focussed and not to be dragged down by his personal demons. He had often wondered if he would ever have the chance to look at all the evidence afresh, to sift through all the details, taking everything apart and putting it back together again and now there was a chance, perhaps just a glimmer but at least a lever of sorts. He had spoken to his DI a few times over the years about just that possibility and had always got the same answer. When Helen Grant disappeared 16 years ago it had eventually, 32after much anguish and with regret on everyone’s part, been put down as a missing person and as such was not subject to periodic review in the way in which major crimes would be scrutinised on a regular basis. There was no real evidence of abduction, injury or a struggle even. All they really had was Helen’s nearly new brown coat discarded in a remote area of the park and a disappearance which everyone said could definitely not be explained by any rational analysis. It was out of character, unplanned and it left behind an absolute mess. There was no blood on the coat, it wasn’t ripped or dirty even and the only DNA they could find belonged to family members plus her own.

         Peter knew that he just had to do something but he wasn’t sure what, or how he could explain his actions. The email that had started it all off was from the police in Méribel and it notified them that a 15-year-old girl had been reported missing in the ski resort and that they were keen to interview Philip Cassidy in connection with her disappearance, but that he had disappeared as well.

         Peter needed time to decide what to do but his mind was in too much of a jumble to make any rational plans. He was scheduled to take statements from two witnesses that morning and in a flash he decided to leave early and get them out of the way as quickly as possible. His pulse was racing and he knew he needed to settle down. He took a few deep breaths through his nose and let the air out slowly through his mouth with his eyes held tightly closed. 33He relaxed slightly, his pulse rate lowered a fraction, and he felt more in control.

         Peter was sure he knew more about Philip Cassidy than any of his colleagues. He had met Philip’s father, Spencer, a few months before Helen disappeared and they had spoken a few times about their respective families, just the normal chit chat, but at least some background information, so he had a head start when Philip Cassidy’s name came up when the initial investigation began.

         Although his mind was partly elsewhere, he went through the motions that morning. He left the station promptly after reading the email knowing that he needed to keep focussed on his schedule. He arrived at the witnesses’ address promptly, took the statements perhaps more carefully than usual, said all the right things and appeared to be the perfect professional. But all he was really interested in was the chance to gain some time so that he could sit and think and he wanted to do that in the park where it all happened.

         He wanted to refresh his memory again and to do that properly he knew he needed to be close to the area where Helen disappeared, to take in the sights and sounds of the place where it happened and just allow his mind to lead him in different directions. He had done this so many times when he and Jim Packer were investigating, looking for signs, hoping for inspiration. Occasionally over the following months he had visited the scene alone but it had only made him feel useless and frustrated.34

         He had been close to Jim, very close, and he trusted him. They had worked together, got drunk together and had walked through the park side-by-side so many times in a vain attempt to make some sense of it all, but their shared endeavours had come up with absolutely nothing. Jim Packer had moved away from the area a few months after Helen went missing and they had spent a pleasant evening together the night before he left and then they had lost touch. Now Peter wished he could rekindle their lost friendship, perhaps just for a fleeting moment or two, so that he could share the latest information and work on a way forward together.

         The short journey by car had passed without him really noticing. He switched off the engine, took his warm coat from the back seat and stepped out on the relatively dry ground in the car park. It had stopped raining but he knew the ground would be wet and soggy. He went to the boot of his car taking out his wellingtons and gloves. Within a matter of minutes, he was striding towards the little cottage standing alone, just off the main road on the outskirts of Broughton. He wanted to start at the beginning and he was sure that Lilac Cottage was the starting point for events that evening in March 2003. He took the circular route partly in woodland and partly in open ground. He walked past the main car park to his left and he could just about see the millpond nearby tucked away in a more secluded area. He needed to keep a clear head and not be disturbed by the personal 35demons which the scene rekindled. He shook his head as if to clear the memory and picked up his pace leaving the scene but not his memories behind. He checked his watch – it had taken 25 minutes to reach the Parkside Pub and he sat for a short while in the summerhouse. He knew there was a shortcut running north to south and he took that route back to his car. That path had been relatively clear in 2003 but not as well used as the circular path. He noticed that some of the larger trees had fallen. The grass was long and wet in places and bramble, bracken and sycamore trees had taken hold in areas where large canopies previously kept the ground relatively clear of any significant growth.

         The sun was beginning to twinkle between some of the branches. Every 50 yards or so he stopped and looked around taking in sights and sounds around him. He thought he heard blackbirds singing in the trees above him but he wasn’t sure that he could identify the species correctly and he wondered if Helen had heard the same songs the night she disappeared.

         Nothing much caught his eye on the remainder of his journey back to his car. He didn’t pass anyone and he was left with just his own memories. He had prepared a summary of the investigation for his DI at the end of the second day and he recalled that information now. The names of possible suspects jumped at him haphazardly and he began to feel swamped by the confusion of all the details. Then he just thought about the one simple truth of it all 36because he knew he needed to start at the most basic level. The fact of the matter was that five teenagers had agreed to meet at the summerhouse behind the Parkside Pub on 17 March 2003 and by 7.45 four of them, including Philip Cassidy, had arrived. Helen Grant was expected but she never turned up and as far as anyone knew she had never been seen alive again.
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            Chapter 4

         

         When Peter got back to the office he waited patiently but the time ticked away slowly. He had completed his work schedules for the afternoon taking great care to do everything by the book. He didn’t want his DI to be able to criticise him in any way about being distracted by the news from France, because he knew that George Baker would immediately have that in mind. There were likely to be enough obstacles in the way without creating any more unnecessarily. The clock on the wall seemed to stand still at times but he couldn’t resist glancing up at it more frequently than was reasonable and he did so again now, waiting for the minute hand to click forward to the next notch. He was on the fourth cup of coffee from the machine down the corridor and he felt a bit nauseous. He was on tenterhooks and couldn’t concentrate properly. The email he had sent in response to the communication from the police in Méribel had said that he would appreciate being kept informed of developments and offering any assistance they required. He knew that he needed to speak to George Baker, his DI, before providing any more information and by then he hoped to have received 38more details. Now all he could do was to wait and that was proving to be difficult for him. There were two parts to his anxieties, one of which was more personal, and he fought an inward battle to push that part aside. It was only his absolute conviction that it had no bearing on the case which assisted that resolve, but it still remained, nagging away, like a persistent itch. He found himself gazing up at the small windows outside taking in the angles of the building opposite, and he wondered where Philip Cassidy was at this time and what he was looking at. Nothing could be further from his own gloomy outlook lit now by amber neon lights but still taking on shades of grey, dark shadows and bleakness. He hated this time of year and he hated himself.

         The ringing of the telephone startled him and he picked up the handset quickly. “Hello,” he said, “DS Lord.”

         “Good afternoon Sergeant, it’s Ingrid Peterson here – thanks for your email and for your offer of assistance.”

         “That’s ok. Is there any further news yet?”

         “Not really. We’ve just finished our briefing and we’re due to meet again later this evening. I just thought I’d telephone to let you know that we may not have any further information for you until later tonight. I’m working now until midnight and I will send a summary of our conclusions before I go off duty and of course clarify what assistance we might require.”39

         “I’m sure we will help in any way we can. What have you got in mind?”

         “Can’t say for sure yet, but probably anything you might have on Philip Cassidy. He’s still missing as far as we know and his disappearance looks suspicious. Then of course the missing girl’s family – that’s Janet and Frank Dawson. I don’t know if it’s just me but something about them seems odd, can’t put my finger on it exactly. They live in Gravesend, and Frank’s on his way home at the moment. He doesn’t know about his daughter yet because as far as we understand his wife can’t get him on the phone, but I’m sure she will speak with him soon and then of course he might need a contact your end.”

         On the surface they were having a straightforward conversation, albeit with Ingrid doing most of the talking and Peter making the right noises in response from time to time. But below that superficial level their minds were focussing in two different directions and Peter’s thoughts were never far away from a conviction that Helen had been taken, used and then discarded. Even in the very beginning he could never convince himself that they would find her safe and well, but that was what Ingrid hoped for and expected in her search for Amanda Dawson. By the time their conversation was coming to an end Ingrid had outlined everything she knew about Amanda’s disappearance. She had a checklist in her mind of all the key points she needed to explain and she had come to the end of that now. She paused slightly and 40a question began to form in her mind. She wasn’t sure, but she thought she could sense some sort of hesitancy in Peter’s responses as if he was holding something back but wanting to say something. Peter had, in fact, been on the point a number of times when he almost started to tell her about Helen Grant’s disappearance and Ingrid had picked up on that. Then she made up her mind. “Is there anything you can tell us now about Philip Cassidy?” she asked. “Any police intelligence that might be relevant. I understand your child protection procedures allow that sort of information to be shared.”

         The question raised Peter’s blood pressure a notch or two and his first words in response got caught in the back of his throat momentarily. “There, there is something. We do have some information that we need to share with you. All I can say now is that his name has come up before in similar circumstances. We will share the details about that with you, but I need to get authorisation from my DI before I can say any more. I hope you understand.”

         “Understand, perhaps, but a bit disappointed. How soon will you get back to us?”

         “First thing tomorrow I’m sure. I’ll keep on top of it this end.” Peter was aware of some of the regulations relating to the sharing of information between European countries, but it was complicated and he wasn’t confident enough about the details to make the decision himself. He knew that one slip, one small error in following procedures could create difficulties 41later on and he was determined to avoid that. He was expecting further protest from Ingrid but all he heard in response was one small sniff of frustration and she didn’t seek to hide it in any way. “I know how you feel,” he said, “and I promise I won’t let you down.”

         Ingrid thought for a short while. She believed that Peter Lord was sincere and that his caution was probably justified but she was impatient. The more she thought however, the more she realised that she should not let that impatience cloud her judgement. “I do believe you and thanks. But is there anything we can do to speed up the process or make it more straightforward for you?”

         “Send a Request for Information through the proper channels straight away. That will help no end,” Peter responded, as he recalled some more of the details about working cooperatively with Europe.

         “I’ll speak to colleagues this end and make sure we deal with that straight away. And thanks Peter. I’m sorry if I sounded a bit…” Ingrid didn’t finish the sentence but left it hanging in the air.

         “Don’t worry, I know what you mean,” Peter responded quickly sensing that Ingrid was struggling with the language. They both realised that they had come to the end of the professional side of the conversation and a short period of silence pushed its way between them. Peter noticed it first. “Better let you get on then,” he said.

         “Yes, still a lot to do and as always, it’s the first 24 hours that are the most important.”42

         Peter decided to give his wife a ring to let her know that he would be late. It was well past 6 pm now and whilst she wouldn’t expect him on time, she would probably plan dinner around the usual 7.30. He picked up the phone and dialled. As the number rang, his mind turned towards Ingrid again. “Hello.” “Hi Kim, just phoning to let you know I’ll be late, won’t be back until 10-ish I’d say. Got something on that can’t wait.”

         “Oh Peter,” she exclaimed. “Not again. I’ve done a casserole and it will be ready soon. I’m starving.”

         “You go ahead without me. Just save a bit. I’ll heat it up in the microwave.” He could sense the disappointment in her voice. He knew he should make the effort. He wasn’t going to achieve much this evening but something made him reluctant to put himself out.

         “It’s not the same,” he heard her say. “I don’t want to be on my own all evening.”

         “I’ll make it up to you, make sure I’m home early tomorrow.”

         “Oh forget it. Just make sure you’re back by ten,” Kim said and she put the phone down abruptly without waiting for a reply.

         He could understand the way she felt. They had had many similar conversations before and he knew where it could be heading. In reality he knew that it wasn’t wholly the work, that perhaps he used his work as an excuse, but he didn’t want to explore these inner thoughts too closely. He wanted to put them aside 43for another day when he could think more clearly, or more probably to put them off all together.

         It didn’t require much effort on his part to put these thoughts aside and to concentrate on his next task. He was helped by an interruption. His DI, George Baker, put his head round the door.

         “Can we have a word about this Philip Cassidy thing before you go Peter?”

         He wasn’t sure at first how the DI knew, but he didn’t let that show in any way. “Yes Sir. I’ve just had another call from France, takes things forward a bit, they want us to be involved in the investigation this end. I was thinking of speaking to you first thing tomorrow – didn’t know you were still here.”

         “I’m just finishing off a few things but I can spare you a few minutes now if you want, must be away by seven… I’ve got some charity ‘do’ this evening and I need to get home to change and pick up Lorna.”

         “I won’t keep you too long I promise, I’ll be up in a few minutes,” Peter called out towards George’s retiring figure but George was absorbed by his own thoughts and he made no reply.

         Peter gathered a few papers together and wondered how George had heard about the Cassidy case, then he realised that all email communications into the office were monitored and Sarah would identify items which she knew should be flagged up. No doubt a communication from France was sufficiently noteworthy to bring to the boss’s attention. George had worked in Broughton almost as long as he had 44and the Helen Grant case would be as much on his mind as it was on his own.

         As he made his way up to the DI’s office, Peter collected his thoughts. He had the sort of mind that could marshal information, put each piece in the right order in the right place, and then present it orally, ensuring that the conclusions drawn were fully supported by the facts. As such he was a difficult person to argue with. The problem he faced now was that he didn’t have much to go on. What he wanted was an opportunity to get the Helen Grant case reopened and he knew that he didn’t have enough evidence for that at present. He was prepared to take it one step at a time as long as it was in the right direction and he was convinced that he was about to take that first step. He breathed a sigh anticipating difficulties, knocked once on the door and entered without waiting for a call to do so.

         George Baker was almost the exact opposite to many of his colleagues. He had a happy well organised personal life and an untidy desk. In fact, his whole office was an absolute mess. Peter moved some papers from the only chair that he could reasonably occupy. The others were piled high with files and boxes plus the odd loose set of forms and papers.

         “Well, Peter what have we got then?”

         Peter had set his chair slightly to one side and at an angle. The rather formal straight on position it had previously occupied seemed too much like an employment interview for his liking. He had many 45recollections of stressful experiences of that sort and the rejections that almost inevitably followed. He took a deep breath, looked across at the DI, and paused for just a moment or two. “You’ve seen the email from Ingrid Peterson and my reply, Sir.”

         The DI nodded. “I’ve spoken with her now. The name Philip Cassidy cropped up during an investigation about a missing English girl – Amanda Dawson aged 15. More details will be confirmed by a further email later tonight and we can expect to receive a formal request for information and assistance.”

         “We’ve got to play this by the book, you know that Peter don’t you, no slip-ups.”

         “Yes, Sir. That’s what I told them on the phone. Follow the regulations and we can’t go wrong,” and he breathed a sigh of relief that he had held back when he spoke with Ingrid Peterson on the phone and had not jumped in with both feet.

         “You remember them?”

         “What, the regulations. Some of it sunk in, Sir. I knew I needed to be cautious and speak with you first.”

         “It’s the European Investigation Order. That controls everything now. All nice and neat as I explained on that training day last year.”

         “Bit complicated though.”

         George Baker knew that Peter was right. The Order was complicated, everything surrounding Europe was complicated these days but the arrangements were meant to help and make it clear that all member 46states were expected to cooperate with one another. And it worked for the most part. “So we can expect a formal request for assistance. Is that what you said we would need?”

         “Yes, and served through the proper channels.”

         “Good, good. Leave it with me. We can chase it up tomorrow if we don’t receive it first thing, ok?” George looked across at Peter and wondered how he was feeling. There were dark clouds hanging over both of them and they had become very good at hiding their feelings. “Did you say the Grant family live in Gravesend?” he said eventually.

         “Yes, why?”

         “Oh, no matter, just checking.”

         Peter sat for a while expecting George to ask something else but there was quiet between them for what seemed like ages. In fact George’s mind had begun to sift through a sequence of events and decisions he had made that went back to the day Helen went missing and it was the mention of Gravesend that brought it to the forefront of his mind. “Why don’t you go home now and get an early night. We can talk again tomorrow when we’re both rested. It’s been a long day already.”

         Peter didn’t really need much convincing and he nodded his agreement. “Ok,” he said as he got up from the chair and turned towards the door. “I’ll be in at 9 am sharp. Thank you, Sir.”

         George was beginning to think that he would give the evening’s engagement a miss. He wasn’t quite sure 47what his wife would think and perhaps she wouldn’t be too pleased but she would come round in the end. He heard Peter close the door behind him and he was left alone with his own thoughts.

         George had had his own theories back in 2003 when he had been a fresh-faced PC but he didn’t believe it was just a case of a missing person. He dialled his home number and listened to the ringing tone, counting up to seven when he knew the BT answer service would kick in. He didn’t want to leave a message. He waited a few minutes and then dialled again. This time his wife answered on the fifth ring.

         “Hello,” she said somewhat out of breath.

         “It’s me,” he said knowing that she would recognise his voice.

         “Oh hello darling. Is everything all right?”

         “Yes, but I’ve been tied up here. We’ve had a slight problem and I need to sort it out tonight.”

         “Does that mean we won’t be going to the ‘do’ tonight? I’ve just showered and I’m almost ready. I was expecting you soon.”

         “Sorry love. It’s going to be too much of a rush. Why don’t we have a takeaway and open that bottle of sparkling wine. I can grab something on the way home. What would you like?”

         “Chinese,” she said in a somewhat impatient way, “but it will cost you more than just a bottle of wine and a Chinese meal. We can talk about that Mediterranean cruise you keep putting off. I’ve got the brochure here.”48

         George smiled to himself. “Yes,” he said almost enthusiastically, “that’s a good idea.” He forgot to ask what meal she wanted but decided to get a selection. He knew what she liked and disliked. Their tastes were very similar.

         Having resolved the personal issue George took out a small black book from the bottom left hand drawer. Despite the apparent mess, he knew where most things were and was always lost when Sarah tidied up. He opened the book and leafed through a few pages stopping at a particular page and running his finger down the list of names. A noise from the outer office made him look up. It was Sarah and he could see her through the glass door that separated his room from the office next door. She walked from her own desk towards his room and knocked gently. “Ok,” he called out and she pushed open the door and came in.

         “I’ll be off soon, do you want anything before I go?”

         “No that’s fine. Have a good evening Sarah.”

         “What about a coffee? I could get one from the machine downstairs.”

         “No, I’ll be going soon, just got a few things to finish off.”

         Sarah had been his secretary for about six years. She enjoyed her work and she got on very well with him. He was a good boss she often thought to herself. They spent many hours together and she had admitted to herself long ago that she had fallen in love with him. 49She never said anything but they both knew how she felt. It was an unspoken understanding. A love that would never be fulfilled or spoken about openly but George was not irritated by it and despite the fact that he knew he would never return the feelings, he was somewhat flattered.

         When Sarah had left, George returned to the black book. It was his list of contact numbers he had kept over the years, adding to it from time to time and removing names reluctantly when he thought about it. So many of his colleagues had left the force or retired. Some had died. His finger reached the name Jim Packer, Kent CID, alongside two telephone numbers and an email address. He selected the mobile number, not the land line, and started to dial. Jim Packer had worked with him on two different cases over the years and they had grown close professionally. He felt comfortable calling him up and asking a favour.

         “Jim Packer,” came the reply in a confident cockney accent.

         “Hello Jim, George Baker here, how’s it going?”

         “Yeh, fine thanks, how are you, long time no talky talky.” Jim could quite easily switch on the professional face and style which he knew was necessary in his work at the level he had reached, but he wanted to promote a more a jovial, somewhat flippant side to his colleagues and the outside world and to avoid revealing too much about himself, about what really lay beneath the veneer of normality 50which he had built up, partly to hide the many scars inflicted as a result of the two undercover operations he had endured in Manchester and Birmingham, but also as a protection in other ways. George was one of the very few colleagues who had got anywhere near understanding the real Jim Packer but even he had only just scratched the surface. On the other hand, Jim knew almost everything there was to know about George Baker, and above all he knew he could trust him.

         “Yes, we must think up excuses for meeting up more often, maybe a project of some sort. How about crowd control and anti-racism in the Premiership.” George knew that Jim was an avid football supporter and could easily be tempted into a light-hearted banter about his beloved Tottenham, sometimes not so light-hearted.

         “Sounds good to me. With expenses of course.”

         “Of course,” replied George enthusiastically. George was conscious of a movement in the outer office and he looked up somewhat nervously. He looked at his watch. “Hang on a minute,” he said to Jim. The time was almost 7.30 pm and he did not expect the cleaners to arrive until after nine. The security people rarely came round before the cleaners began, in fact he hadn’t seen anyone from security on his floor level before except when they had been asked to attend meetings. He could now make out a shadowy figure making its way across the outer room in semidarkness. The only light came from his own 51office through the glass walls. It was Sarah and he breathed a sigh of relief. He hadn’t realised how on edge he had been. He got up and walked to the door. “What’s up Sarah? Is everything ok?”

         “Yes, I didn’t want to disturb you putting the lights on. I just remembered that I’ve left my library book here and I want to finish it tonight if I can. Is everything ok?” She had sensed his unease and was anxious about him.

         “Yes, fine thanks, I’m just on the phone. See you tomorrow.”

         Sarah returned to her desk and took a book from one of her drawers. She was convinced now that something wasn’t quite right. She was sure George would not interrupt a phone conversation unnecessarily but there was nothing she could do. She would probably worry all night.

         George returned to his desk and picked up the phone. “Sorry about that,” he said but did not enlarge or give any explanation. He watched as Sarah walked back across the outer office in the semidarkness and waved her hand in his direction. He waved back and waited briefly until she had gone. “Right, where was I?”

         “A community liaison project, with expenses I believe.”

         “Yes, that’s right, but what’s really on your mind?” Jim could sense that George had something specific to talk about and he wanted to make it easier for him. Besides, there was a steak and kidney pie waiting for 52him at home and he could do with putting his feet up in front of the TV with a nice cold beer.

         “Well two things really.” George explained briefly about the communications from France. “This business of the Grant family, we may need help your end on that.”

         “Just let me know what you want and I will do what I can,” Jim said “but what’s the second thing?” Jim guessed correctly that it had something to do with the Helen Grant case and he could tell from the way the conversation had gone that George was leading up to it.

         George wasn’t quite sure why he had confided in Jim Packer all those years ago. It wasn’t as though he had been a close colleague, but there was something about their relationship that made him feel confident, made him feel that he could trust him. The fact that he had had more than his usual two pints of bitter at the time made it easier to talk and he had needed to talk to someone. He had needed reassurance, someone to share in the dilemma. He hadn’t wanted to let Helen Grant down in any way all those years ago, but he didn’t want to do anything to make a fool of himself or be seen as someone who let colleagues down. George had chosen his confidant well. Jim could easily have blown the whole thing wide open. Instead he had implicated himself by his own actions and silence and they were now bound by knowledge that they alone were party to.

         “We may need to meet up. I don’t really want to go into any of this over the phone.” George was 53torn between seeking the reassurance he needed at that moment and the importance of discretion. He felt nervous and uncomfortable despite the lack of secrets between them and he knew that he would need a good night’s sleep and a clear head tomorrow. Part of him wanted the call from France to be apologetic. To say that the girl had been found alive and well and that they did not need help with the investigation. That at least would take the heat off. They could then go back the way they were, still waiting for the trigger to start a new investigation rolling. Nothing to change the status that had existed for the best part of 16 years. The other part of him wanted answers, wanted an end to the uncertainty. He knew he could never rest properly. Not the sort of rest that came with an easy conscience and with the knowledge that his instincts had been right. He had put all his other instincts aside with never a passing thought about them. He had absolutely no regrets about that. The two forces wrestled within him but he knew beyond any doubt that the desire for answers would win. His lifetime service with the police was probably part of the reason for that. The other part was about him as a person, not as a policeman and it was that part that took over and was the deciding factor. “I’ll contact you tomorrow whatever the news. Is it ok to use this same mobile number?” Jim confirmed that it was.

         “Have you spoken much with Andy Blackstone since his retirement?” Jim asked abruptly.54

         “No, why do you ask?” George said, wondering why Jim would change the subject like that. It seemed really odd and made him feel uncomfortable.

         “It’s just that I called in to see him just after his birthday in December. It’s not easy now that I’m living in Gravesend. Andy had a brilliant mind and we all learned much from him but he’s not been the same since his wife died. It’s tragic really.”

         The uncertainty in George’s mind intensified as he explored the reasons why the conversation had turned so abruptly to Andy Blackstone and, momentarily he was lost for words. It didn’t take Jim long to pick up on this brief void in the conversation and he smiled to himself recognising his own perceptiveness.

         “It’s just that Andy said something that made me sit up and think. Something about the Helen Grant case. Probably wasn’t anything. I’ll explain when we meet.”

         George was shaken by this but he tried not to let it show in his voice. “Anything I need to know now?”

         “I don’t think so. “Look,” he added “Andy rambles quite a bit and says odd things all the time. We can talk about it soon, when we meet.”

         George accepted this reluctantly as the uncertain feelings continued to build within him. “Ok,” he said eventually, “I’ll be in touch about the best time to meet.”

         George decided he couldn’t do much more tonight, but he was reluctant to leave. He thought about the events in France, and like his colleague Peter Lord, 55was struck by the coincidence. Two girls missing. Philip Cassidy close by in both cases. He didn’t believe in coincidence. There was usually a rational explanation for most things and his instinct told him that something wasn’t quite right. He was sure that there would be some sort of connection when everything became much clearer. He sat for a few moments and let his thoughts wonder. Eventually he decided to make his way home but his mind was in a turmoil.
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